FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
2/16/2023 3:43 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/17/2023
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Case No: 568080-II

101727-8

**IN THE COURT OF APPEALS
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

Preserve Responsible Shoreline Management, et al.,

Petitioners,

v.

City of Bainbridge Island, et al.,

Respondents.

On appeal of an order of the Kitsap County Superior Court,
the Honorable Tina Robinson, Case No. 15-2-00904-6

PETITION FOR REVIEW

RICHARD M. STEPHENS
WSBA #21776
Stephens & Klinge LLP
10900 NE 4th Street,
Suite 2300
Bellevue, Washington 98004
Telephone: (425) 429-2532
stephens@sklegal.pro

BRIAN T. HODGES
WSBA #31976

IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners are Preserve Responsible Shoreline Management, Alice Tawresey, Robert Day, Bainbridge Shoreline Homeowners, Dick Haugan, Linda Young, Don Flora, John Rosling, Bainbridge Defense Fund, and Point Monroe Lagoon Home Owners Association, Inc. (“PRSM”).

CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS’ DECISION

PRSM seeks review of the Court of Appeals’ December 13, 2022, decision in *Preserve Responsible Shoreline Management, et al. v. City of Bainbridge Island, et al.* (Div. II, No. 568080-II) (Appendix A). The court’s January 19, 2023, Order Denying Reconsideration is attached as Appendix B.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether a party to an administrative appeal under Washington’s Administrative Procedures Act (“APA”), Ch. 34.05 RCW, has a right to cite evidence needed to establish a federal constitutional violation when that claim is properly raised in the first court with jurisdiction over the claim.

2. Whether the Court of Appeals erred by concluding that a municipality’s consideration of science when developing new buffer regulations will automatically satisfy the “essential nexus” and “rough proportionality” tests of *Nollan v. California Coastal Commission*, 483 U.S. 825, 836–37, 107 S. Ct. 3141, 97 L. Ed. 2d 677 (1987), and *Dolan v. City of Tigard*, 512 U.S. 374, 391, 114 S. Ct. 2309, 129 L. Ed. 2d 304 (1994), without any requirement that the government show that the buffers demand no more property than necessary to mitigate for the impacts of a proposed development and where the Growth Board determined that the buffers’ widths were “set by city policy, not science-based information.” AR 5824.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This Petition arises from Bainbridge Island’s decision to set its shoreline buffer widths based on its policy preferences—including the “precautionary principle” (AR 42 (SMP § 1.2.3))—rather than science. AR 5824 (Growth Board finding “Buffer widths [were] set by city policy, not science-based

information.”). But the Court of Appeals, for reasons discussed below, refused to consider those portions of the record memorializing the City’s non-scientific reasoning for setting its mandatory buffer widths by adopting rules that allowed it to (1) ignore the administrative record and (2) determine the unconstitutional conditions claim without addressing *Nollan* and *Dolan*’s “essential nexus” and “rough proportionality” tests.

A. The City Set Its Buffer Widths Based on Policy, Not Science

Washington’s Shoreline Management Act (“SMA”) directs each city and county to enact and periodically update its Shoreline Master Program (“SMP”), which constitutes the local development and use regulations for property adjacent to shorelines. RCW 90.58.010–.920. As part of this process, the SMA and its guidelines direct each local government to create a record showing that it engaged in a reasoned analysis of “the most current, accurate, and complete scientific and technical information available that is applicable to the issues of concern.”

WAC 173-26-201(2). The purpose of this is to ensure that the SMP addresses shoreline conditions “as they currently exist” (WAC 173-26-201(2)(c)) and that mitigation requirement efforts are not “in excess of that necessary to assure that development will result in no net loss of shoreline ecological functions” WAC 173-26-201(2)(e)(ii)(A); *see also Honesty in Env’t Analysis and Legislation v. Cent. Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd. (HEAL)*, 96 Wn. App. 522, 533, 979 P.2d 864 (1999) (concluding that science is essential “to an accurate decision about what policies and regulations are necessary to mitigate and will in fact mitigate the environmental effects of new development”). The City, however, did not follow this science-focused process.

When the City began the process of updating its SMP in 2010, its existing scientific record was “dated and lacked accuracy.” *See, e.g., AR 4097; see also AR 2868* (councilmember noting that the science-based buffer recommendations were “poorly understood,” “inconsistently

applied,” and riddled with “uncertainties”). The studies were extremely generalized, so the City could only suggest buffers “ranging from as little as 16 feet to as much as 1,969 feet,” with the caveat that the necessity and effectiveness of a buffer within that range would depend on multiple factors not addressed by the studies. AR 3968; AR 4307–08 (noting that the studies had been based on the preliminary assumption that all properties are fully forested and free of conditions that limit the effectiveness of buffers). Without additional studies addressing those factors, the City’s science consultant could not arrive at any science-based, site-appropriate recommendations for buffer widths. AR 4314.

The science consultant recommended that the City engage in “site-specific” studies “to . . . understand . . . the potential direct, indirect and cumulative impacts” of existing and future development, AR 4100, and determine the width necessary for a buffer to protect existing shoreline conditions. AR 4310 (warning that, on marine shorelines, site-specific information is “more important” for determining effectiveness of buffers). The

consultant explained that additional studies were needed to identify the sources of environmental stressors (such as stormwater runoff from public roads, ditches, and upland development), and the actual range of impacts that residential development may have on shoreline conditions, as they currently exist. AR 4097–4100; AR 4299–4302. Although this should have spurred additional inquiry (and there is no indication that such studies would be infeasible), the City chose not to do so. AR 2882 (consultant testifying that he was not asked to scientifically justify the buffer widths).

Instead, the City decided to set buffer widths based on its policy preferences. AR 5824. Indeed, at an early “visioning” meeting, a City representative stated that it “must” follow the “precautionary principle” when updating its SMP. AR 1285; AR 1291. The “precautionary principle,” however, is intended to be limited in application, urging the government to take a “better-safe-than-sorry” approach by demanding more protective measures than necessary only when faced with uncertain or

incomplete science.¹ See WAC 173-26-201(3)(g) (“[T]he less known about existing resources, the more protective shoreline master program provisions should be to avoid unanticipated impacts to shoreline resources.”). Proceeding under that policy, City consultants and committeepersons proposed buffers that are “larger than the bare minimum needed for protection” to avoid a “worst case scenario” and “ensure [ecological] success in the face of uncertainty about site-specific conditions.” AR 4314; *see also* AR 2400, 4307–08.

That the City set buffer widths based on *policy*, not science, is beyond dispute. The City’s science consultant testified that the “specific width . . . is part of the policy recommendation.” AR 2879; *see also* AR 2883 (councilmember

¹ The only decision to address this policy limited its application to where (1) the regulated activity poses a significant risk of irreversible, (2) there is an “absence of relevant scientific information,” and (3) the measures will only last “until the uncertainty is sufficiently resolved.” *Yakima Cnty. v. E. Wash. Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd.*, 168 Wn. App. 680, 693, 279 P.3d 434 (2012).

noting that a scientific justification for the buffer width “doesn’t appear in the” science). Despite numerous public comments objecting to the City’s reliance on the “precautionary principle,”² the City’s updated SMP became effective in July 2014. *See* AR 5661 (voting to include “precautionary principle” in the SMP despite constitutional concerns).

B. The Policy-Based Buffer Regulations Demand a Dedication of Property to a Public Use

The SMP requires that, as a mandatory condition on any new “development, use, or activities regardless of whether a permit is required” (AR 70 (SMP § 4.1.2.4(2))), the owner must dedicate a conservation area of 50 to 200 feet of private shoreline, depending on its use designation and other criteria unrelated to the impacts of proposed development.³ AR 96 (SMP Table 4-3). To enforce the buffer, the SMP requires that all current and future owners maintain the conservation area “in a

² *See, e.g.*, AR 876, 1638, 1790, 3574, 3623.

³ For more discussion, *see* PRSM Opening Br. at 18–24, 61–64; PRSM Reply Br. at 22–28.

predominantly natural, undisturbed and vegetated condition.” AR 105–06, 109 (SMP §§ 4.1.3.1, 4.1.3.2, 4.1.3.5(4)). These provisions compel the dedication of real property to public use.⁴ *City of Tacoma v. Welcker*, 65 Wn.2d 677, 683, 399 P.2d 330 (1965) (the acquisition of a buffer to protect water quality constitutes an exercise of eminent domain).

C. Growth Board Proceedings: Buffer Widths Set by Policy, Not Science

PRSM timely appealed the City’s SMP to the Growth Board, alleging the SMP “violates state law and regulations” and specifically reserving its constitutional claims for the trial court. AR 2–3; *see also Aho Constr. I, Inc. v. City of Moxee*, 6 Wn. App. 2d 441, 462, 430 P.3d 1131 (2018) (The Growth Board “lack[s] jurisdiction to resolve constitutional challenges.”).

⁴ RCW 64.04.130 (“A development right, easement, covenant, restriction, or other right, or any interest less than the fee simple, to protect . . . or conserve for open space purposes . . . constitutes and is classified as real property.”); *Richardson v. Cox*, 108 Wn. App. 881, 884, 890–91, 26 P.3d 970 (2001) (dedication of a property interest can be achieved via notice on a binding public document); *Nollan*, 483 U.S. at 833 n.2; *id.* at 859 (Brennan, J., dissenting) (dedication achieved via a deed restriction).

On its statutory claims, PRSM argued that the City had failed to comply with the SMA's science requirements where "the buffers selected were not driven by science-based information but City policy unrelated to science." AR 580–81; AR 599–600. In response, the City admitted that its buffer widths were set based on its policy preferences, arguing that it was allowed to do so under a Growth Board decision interpreting the SMA's science requirement to be procedural—not substantive—in nature. AR 3967–68. Citing *Lake Burien Neighborhood v. City of Burien & Dep't of Ecology*, 2014 WL 3710018, at *6 (Final Decision, June 16, 2014), the City explained that science played a "more limited role" in its update process. *Id.* Thus, it explained that it had relied on science only insofar as it recognized the value of buffers in protecting sensitive areas. *Id.* But because the scientific recommendations regarding buffer widths varied widely based on a host of site-specific characteristics, it chose instead to adopt a single default buffer width for each use designation based on policy considerations. AR 3968–69.

Resultantly, the Growth Board dismissed PRSM’s science-based challenge: “Buffer widths [are] set by city policy, not science-based information.” AR 5824. None of the parties appealed that finding.

D. Trial Court Proceedings: City and Ecology Admit That the Buffers Were Driven, in Part, by Policy

PRSM timely petitioned the superior court for judicial review of the Board’s decision, properly raising its unconstitutional conditions challenge to the first adjudicative body with jurisdiction. CP 1–166; CP 183–200. The claim alleged that the City’s decision to rely on the “precautionary principle” and other policy grounds to set buffer widths violated the doctrine of unconstitutional conditions as set out in *Nollan* and *Dolan* because there is no record that the selected widths satisfy nexus and proportionality. CP 252–56, 265–78, 570–91. PRSM’s trial brief supported this claim with on-record proof that the City relied on the “precautionary principle” and other burden-shifting policies when setting buffer widths. *Id.* In response, the

City and Ecology admitted reliance on the “precautionary principle” and other policy bases. *See* CP 528–29, 533 (City Br.); CP 304 (Ecology Br.). The trial court, however, dismissed PRSM’s claim as nonjusticiable without addressing the “precautionary principle” or any of the other policy bases considered by the City when setting their widths. CP 639–46.

E. Appellate Proceedings: City and Ecology Claim That Buffer Widths Were Set by Science, Not Policy

PRSM, thereafter, raised the federal constitutional claim to the Court of Appeals, citing the record once again as proof that the widths were based on policy preferences. PRSM Opening Br. at 64–70; PRSM Reply Br. at 29–36. This time, however, the City and Ecology radically changed their tune on the facts, claiming for the first time that the City had based the widths entirely on science, and had not considered the “precautionary principle.” City Resp. Br. at 54, *see also id.* at 6, 41; Ecology Resp. Br. at 2, 24, 27–28. The City then moved to bar PRSM from citing those portions of the record evidencing the

government's reliance on the "precautionary principle." City Resp. Br. at 38–42. Citing the APA's issue exhaustion provision (RCW 34.05.554(1)), the City argued that because PRSM did not mention the "precautionary principle" when arguing statutory issues before the Growth Board, it should be barred from citing that record evidence in support of the issues on appeal, including the unconstitutional conditions claim—a claim that can only be raised to the courts. *See* PRSM Reply Br. at 12–13. Despite concluding that PRSM had properly raised its constitutional claim to the first court with jurisdiction (Decision at 26 n.10), the court agreed with the City and applied administrative-issue exhaustion to disregard those portions of the record regarding the "precautionary principle" when considering all issues on appeal, including the unconstitutional conditions claim. Decision at 15–18; 26–30.

Despite this limitation on the evidence, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the City's buffer demand constituted a permit condition subject to *Nollan* and *Dolan*.

Decision at 27. The court also concluded that PRSM’s facial challenge is justiciable. Decision at 28; *see also* Ecology Resp. Br. at 28 (conceding that point). The court additionally determined that “[i]n the context of a facial challenge to a land use ordinance, the ordinance ‘must comply with the nexus and rough proportionality limits . . . placed on governmental authority to impose conditions on development applications.’” Decision at 27 (quoting *HEAL*, 96 Wn. App. at 533); *see also* Decision at 28 (noting that the parties “agree that the nexus and proportionality tests apply to this facial challenge of the Master Program”).

The court’s decision to declare portions of the record “off limits,” however, significantly affected its consideration of the merits. Without the record of the City’s actual reasoning, the court ignored PRSM’s arguments about the role policy played in setting buffer widths and adopted the City’s revisionist claim that the buffers were based on science. Decision at 28–30. And because the only study commenting on buffer widths had

observed that buffers ranging between 16 and 1,969 feet may be effective, the court treated that as a firm scientific conclusion. *Id.* at 5 (omitting the caveat that the appropriate width will depend on site-specific factors (AR 3968)).

Based on those determinations, the court found the City had “relied on the valid scientific information to establish the shoreline buffers” and further that the science “made detailed recommendations for shoreline regulations.” *Id.* at 29. From that, the court reasoned that any buffer between 16 and 1,969 feet would be justified. *Id.* at 29 n.11. The court deemed these new findings “fatal” to the unconstitutional conditions claim (*id.* at 29), concluding that a government’s reliance on science in setting buffer widths will satisfy *Nollan* and *Dolan*, without need to engage in the nexus and proportionality analysis. *Id.* at 28–29. Under that reasoning, the Court of Appeals explained the City could only have transgressed if it had demanded buffers exceeding 1,969 feet. *Id.* at 29 n.11. PRSM moved for

reconsideration, which the Court denied. App. B. This Petition follows.

REASONS FOR GRANTING THE PETITION

I.

THE COURT’S CONCLUSION THAT PRSM WAS BARRED FROM CITING EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD DEPRIVED PETITIONERS OF DUE PROCESS AND CONFLICTS WITH OTHER PRECEDENTS

Review by this Court is necessary to correct an error that deprived PRSM of its due-process right to cite portions of the record memorializing the City’s reliance on the “precautionary principle.” Decision at 15–18; *State ex rel. Puget Sound Navigation Co. v. Dep’t of Transp.*, 33 Wn.2d 448, 495, 206 P.2d 456 (1949) (due process ensures each litigant has a right to present evidence in support of their claims); *Jenkins v. McKeithen*, 395 U.S. 411, 429, 89 S. Ct. 1843, 23 L. Ed. 2d 404 (1969) (“The right to present evidence is . . . essential to fair hearing[s]” as due process requires.).

The court’s error is obvious. It misconstrued the APA’s administrative-issue-exhaustion provision, RCW 34.05.554(1),

to bar PRSM from citing portions of the record in support of *any* argument on appeal.⁵ *See* Decision at 15–18. In doing so, the court wrongly applied administrative exhaustion to a constitutional claim that was outside the Growth Board’s authority (and properly raised first before the trial court). Decision at 26 n.10; *see also City of Chicago v. Int’l Coll. of Surgeons*, 522 U.S. 156, 164, 118 S. Ct. 523, 139 L. Ed. 2d 525 (1997) (facial constitutional claims are independent of an administrative proceeding even where the “constitutional claims were raised by way of a cause of action created by [the state’s administrative appeal] law”).

For administrative-issue exhaustion to apply, a claim must have been subject to agency authority and the proceeding must have provided the parties the opportunity to litigate claims on

⁵ PRSM’s appeal presented two statutory challenges that could be subject to administrative exhaustion. PRSM Opening Br. at 7–8. But the appeal also alleged a violation of the unconstitutional conditions doctrine, which was not subject to exhaustion. PRSM Opening Br. at 8; PRSM Reply Br. at 12–13, 18.

merit. *Sims v. Apfel*, 530 U.S. 103, 112, 120 S. Ct. 2080, 147 L. Ed. 2d 80 (2000). In this way, issue-exhaustion is a shield “protect[ing] the integrity of administrative decision making.” *Motley-Motley, Inc. v. State*, 127 Wn. App. 62, 73, 110 P.3d 812 (2005). It cannot be made a sword to keep legitimate claims from the courts.⁶ *Plantier v. Ramona Mun. Water Dist.*, 7 Cal. 5th 372, 390, 441 P.3d 870 (2019).

The Court also erred by using issue-exhaustion to bar citation to on-record facts. The “mere citation of evidence already contained in the record to further support [a] claim is not a new legal argument for purposes of issue exhaustion.” *Bozeman v. McDonald*, 814 F.3d 1354, 1358 (Fed. Cir. 2016). Indeed, Division II has elsewhere confirmed that issue-

⁶ As stated above, all parties presented arguments pertaining to the constitutionality of the “precautionary principle” at every opportunity, including public comments (AR 771–72, 1284–90, 2544, 3102), the City’s legislative record (AR 42, 2400, 4308–08, 4314), and trial court pleadings. *See* CP 225–28, 568–69, 571–74 (PRSM Opening and Reply Briefs); *see also* CP 528–29, 533 (City Br.); CP 304 (Ecology Br.).

exhaustion applies only to *issues* raised for the first time on appeal—it cannot prevent new citations to the record supporting issues properly preserved for appeal. *Port of Tacoma v. Sacks*, 19 Wn. App. 2d 295, 313, 495 P.3d 866 (2021); *Olympic Stewardship Found. v. State Env't & Land Use Hearings Off. through W. Wash. Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd.*, 199 Wn. App. 668, ¶¶ 248–49, 399 P.3d 562 (2017) (unpublished). That is because APA’s issue-exhaustion provision speaks only to “issues not raised before the agency.” RCW 34.05.554(1). It does not speak to citable evidence, which is addressed by RCW 34.05.558 (confining review “to the agency record” without limitation). The Decision creates uncertainty in the law that should be settled by this Court.

The court’s errors, moreover, resulted in a manifest injustice. The court’s refusal to consider the City’s policy-based reasoning resulted in a decision rooted solely in post-hoc renditions of “facts” that are contrary to the record, contrary to the City’s prior representations, and contrary to the Growth

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