FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/7/2023 12:25 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 101727-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PRESERVE RESPONSIBLE SHORELINE MANAGEMENT, et al.

Petitioners,

v.

CITY OF BAINBRIDGE ISLAND, WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY, et al.

Respondents.

JOINT ANSWER OF STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY AND CITY OF BAINBRIDGE ISLAND IN OPPOSITION TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

OGDEN MURPHY WALLACE, P.L.L.C.

JAMES E. HANEY WSBA No. 11058 901 Fifth Ave., Suite 3500 Seattle, WA 98164 206-447-7000 ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. PRSM has Failed to Address Three of the Four Grounds for Review Set Forth in RAP 13.4(b).

This Court grants review only if the criteria set forth in RAP 13.4(b) are met:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the

Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) if a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

PRSM's petition for review fails to so much as mention these criteria, much less purport to satisfy them. The petition contains no argument whatsoever regarding RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), or (4). At most, a generous reading of the petition might suggest that PRSM believes it raises a significant constitutional question. RAP 13.4(b)(3). All PRSM suggests, however, is a dispute over the application of well-developed constitutional principles to the unique facts of this case, presenting no significant question for review.

B. The Court of Appeals Correctly Held that PRSM Failed to Preserve its Precautionary Principle Argument for Appeal.

The Administrative Procedures Act ("APA") governs appeals from the Board's decisions. RCW 36.70A.300(5); RCW 34.05.570(3); *Quadrant Corp. v. Cent. Puget Sound Growth*

Mgmt. Hrgs Bd., 154 Wn.2d 224, 233, 110 P.3d 1152 (2003); Olympic Stewardship Foundation v. State Env'tl and Land Use Hrgs Office, 199 Wn. App. 668, 685, 399 P.3d 562 (2017). Under the APA, issues that were not raised before the Board may not be raised for the first time on appeal. RCW 34.05.554(1); Kitsap Alliance of Property Owners (KAPO) v. Cent. Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hrgs. Bd., 160 Wn. App. 250, 271-72, 255 P.3d 696 (2011); Motley-Motley, Inc. v. State, 127 Wn. App. 62, 72, 110 P.3d 812 (2005). The prohibition on raising new issues "serves the important policy purpose of protecting the integrity of administrative decision making." *Motley-Motley*, 127 Wn. App. at 73; King County v. Wash. State Boundary Review Bd. 122 Wn.2d 648, 668, 860 P.2d 1024 (1993).

The Court of Appeals properly found that PRSM failed to raise any argument concerning the precautionary principle before the Board and that this failure precluded PRSM from raising that argument on appeal. Opinion at 15-17. PRSM concedes the validity of this ruling as to its argument below regarding the

precautionary principle and the City's compliance with the SMA, because PRSM has not sought review of that ruling. Instead, PRSM now attempts to make its argument regarding the precautionary principle by grafting it onto its unconstitutional conditions claim. The Court of Appeals properly rejected this attempt when PRSM raised it in a motion for reconsideration of the Opinion, and this Court should do likewise in deciding PRSM's petition for review.

PRSM did not raise its constitutional argument regarding the precautionary principle before the Board or in its opening brief before the Kitsap County Superior Court, which was the first tribunal with jurisdiction to hear constitutional issues. AR 5824-25 (Board decision); CP 271-28 (PRSM's opening brief in the superior court). Instead, PRSM argued that the City relied on general assumptions and therefore did not meet the constitutional requirements for nexus and proportionality. *Id.* PRSM included only a passing reference to the precautionary principle in its constitutional argument in its reply brief in the superior court (CP

585, 587-88). But issues raised for the first time in a reply brief are generally not considered on appeal. *Matter of Rhem*, 188 Wn.2d 321, 327, 394 P.3d 367 (2017); *Bergerson v. Zurbano*, 6 Wn. App. 2d 912, 926, 432 P.3d 850 (2018). Moreover, a mere passing reference to an issue is insufficient to preserve it. *Olympic Stewardship Foundation, supra*, 199 Wn. App. at 687 (citing *Holland v. City of Tacoma*, 90 Wn. App. 533, 538, 954 P.2d 290 (1998)). Therefore, PRSM did not preserve its precautionary principle argument as part of its unconstitutional conditions claim and the Court of Appeals properly excluded that argument on appeal.

C. The City's Standard Buffers Do Not Require Shoreline Owners to Give Up any Property Rights and the Unconstitutional Conditions Doctrine Does Not Apply.

In the context of land use, the doctrine of unconstitutional conditions states that "the government may not require a person to give up a constitutional right in exchange for a discretionary benefit conferred by the government where the benefit sought has little or no relationship to the property." *Dolan v. City of*

Tigard, 512 U.S. 374, 385, 114 S. Ct. 2309, 129 L.Ed.2d 304 (1994). Here, the SMP buffer provisions do not require shoreline property owners to give up any constitutional right.

As noted above, property owners are given two choices for establishing shoreline buffers on their properties that preserve shoreline ecological functions: (1) a site-specific Vegetation Management Area, or (2) the City's two-tiered shoreline buffers set forth in the SMP. Neither the Vegetation Management Area nor the standard shoreline buffer require the owner to give up any fundamental attribute of ownership under either choice. The SMP buffer provisions do not require the owner to transfer any interest in the property to the City, do not take away the owner's right to exclude others (including the City), and do not take away the right of the owner to dispose of the property. See, Guimont v. Clarke, 121 Wn.2d 586, 595, 854 P.2d 1 (1993) (listing these fundamental attributes of property ownership). Buffers are simply use restrictions similar to common zoning setbacks – they are not dedications for public use or public access easements.

Common Sense Alliance v. Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd., No. 72235-2—I & 72236-I, 2015 WL 4730204, at *8 (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 10, 2015) (unpublished).

PRSM falsely asserts that the SMP requires owners to dedicate a portion of their property to public use. PRSM's Pet. for Review at 8-9, but none of the SMP provisions cited by PRSM contain any language requiring dedication or conveyance of any interest in the land to the City or the public. SMP §§ 4.1.2.4(2), AR 101; 4.1.3.1, AR 105-06; 4.1.3.2, AR 106; 4.1.3.5(4), AR 108-09; or Table 4-3, AR 96. Instead, these sections merely restrict uses in certain areas to protect shoreline ecological functions when the owner undertakes development. The owner retains all fundamental attributes of ownership, and no such attribute is conveyed to the public.

The cases and statutes PRSM cites in support of its dedication argument do not support its position. *City of Tacoma v. Welcker*, 65 Wn.2d 677, 683, 399 P.2d 330 (1965) did not hold that every "acquisition of a buffer to protect water quality

constitutes an exercise of eminent domain;" the case holds only that a city may validly exercise the power of eminent domain to acquire such easements. Richardson v. Cox, 108 Wn. App. 881, 890-91, 26 P.3d 970 (2001), did not hold that "dedication of a property interest can be achieved via notice on a binding public document;" the case held only that a quit claim deed and a later declaration of covenants did not dedicate a roadway easement for public use absent an explicit statement to that effect. Footnote 2 to Justice Brennan's dissenting opinion in Nollan v. California Coastal Comm'n, 483 U.S. 825, 833, 107 S.Ct. 3141, 97 L.Ed.2d 677 (1987) does not address a "dedication achieved via a deed restriction." It instead quotes from the Court's previous decision in United States v. Riverside Bayview Homes, Inc., 474 U.S. 121, 127, 106 S.Ct. 455, 88 L.Ed.2d 419 (1985), in which the Court stated, in part, that "a requirement that a person obtain a permit before engaging in a certain use of his or her property does not itself 'take' the property in any sense." And RCW 64.04.130 merely states that the state and other public entities may acquire interests in real property for conservation purposes and that, when they do, such interests are considered real property. Thus, despite PRSM's best attempts to distort these cases and statutes, nothing in them supports PRSM's assertion that the City's SMP buffer provisions "compel the dedication of real property to public use" as PRSM claims.

A party asserting that a dedication exists has the burden to establish that the elements of a dedication are present. *Richardson*, 108 Wn. App. at 891. PRSM has wholly failed to meet this burden. PRSM's attempt to create a dedication requirement out of whole cloth to support its unconstitutional conditions argument must be rejected and its petition for review must be denied on this basis.

D. The Court of Appeals Properly Held that PRSM Had Not Met its Burden to Show that the SMP Buffers Violate the Doctrine of Unconstitutional Conditions.

PRSM claims that the Court of Appeals' Opinion conflicts with the decisions of the U.S. Supreme Court in *Nollan* and *Dolan* by setting up a "rule" that allows the City to demand any

width of buffer within the range of buffers found in the literature. Pet. At 29. The Opinion sets up no such rule, finding instead that the City successfully met the test for nexus and proportionality in adopting the SMP because it employed the use of a reasoned, objective analysis of the science.

1. The City employed a reasoned analysis of the extensive scientific record to develop the buffer conditions.

As discussed above, PRSM's contention that City's buffer decision was made solely on policy grounds ignores the record containing the extensive scientific information the City assembled and considered in developing the SMP. The Board's finding with regard to the City's buffer decision was that the City incorporated "policy as well as science into its buffer width determination." AR 5825. The Court of Appeals affirmed, concluding that the City "relied on extensive scientific research" and that that reliance meant the City "used a reasoned, objective analysis" to create the SMP. Opinion at 29.

PRSM's claim that the City only relied on generalized statements about conditions on shoreline property is refuted by the record. Pet. at 26. The Opinion meticulously documents the scientific record the City considered. Opinion at 2-6, 28-29.

As the Court of Appeals found, the City's consultant provided recommendations for the buffer widths based on the scientific literature. Opinion at 3-5, 29. The City did not simply, as PRSM contends, base the buffer provisions on a generalized public need within a broad range of possible widths. Pet. at 26. Rather, the City determined what future development might occur, what ecological functions might be impacted by that development, and what buffer widths would protect ecological function against such impact.

The record demonstrates that the City based its buffer decisions on a sound analysis of the science, as well as on policies taking into account the goals and aspirations of the community. PRSM's contention that buffer widths were set on generalized analysis and policy fails.

2. The Court of Appeals properly found that the City's process satisfied nexus and proportionality as those tests apply to enacted ordinances.

PRSM incorrectly asserts that buffers are an exaction demanded of landowners to address a public need. Pet. at 28-29. They are not. Both SMPs and Critical Area Ordinances commonly use buffers, which both the SMA and the Growth Management Act (GMA), RCW 36.70A, permit. See, e.g., OSF, 199 Wn. App. 668; Kitsap Alliance of Prop. Owners v. Cent. Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd., 160 Wn. App. 250, 273, 255 P.3d 696 (2011).

The SMP Guidelines state that SMPs "shall include policies and regulations that assure no net loss of shoreline ecological functions will result from residential development. Such provisions should include specific regulations for setbacks and buffer areas " WAC 173-26-241(3)(j)(ii). "The imposition of buffers protects the shoreline ecological functions, processes, and habitat." *OSF*, 199 Wn. App. 699; AR 4341. The buffer provisions protect shoreline ecological function that may

be impacted by specific development proposed on that shoreline.

They are not directed at a generalized public need.

PRSM claims the Opinion undermines Nollan and Dolan, both of which are as-applied challenges to conditions imposed on development permits. In *Nollan*, owners challenged a building permit that required them to provide a public access easement across their property. Nollan v. Cal. Coastal Comm'n, 483 U.S. 825, 107 S. Ct. 3141, 97 L. Ed. 2d 677 (1987). The Supreme Court invalidated the requirement, because the access provision did not have a governmental purpose, or "nexus," to the construction of the home. *Dolan* involved a challenge to a building permit approval for a store expansion and parking lot that required a dedication of open space to the public in an adjacent floodplain. Dolan v. City of Tigard, 512 U.S. 374, 385, 114 S. Ct. 2309, 129 L. Ed. 2d 304 (1994). The dedication requirement was invalidated because the amount of land required to be dedicated was not proportional to the impact of the proposed construction. Dolan, 512 U.S. 374. The nexus and proportionality analyses in these as-applied cases were specific to the easements required by specific permit approvals.

In this facial challenge to the SMP, no individual project has yet been proposed, and there are no site-specific project factors to be analyzed for compliance with nexus and proportionality in the same manner as there would be in an asapplied challenge. Because of this, the Court of Appeals correctly relied on Honesty in Environmental Analysis and Legislation v. Central Puget Sound Growth Management Hearings Board, 96 Wn. App. 522, 979 P.2d 864 (1999) (HEAL) and Kitsap Alliance of Property Owners v. Central Puget Sound Growth Management Hearings Board, 160 Wn. App. 250, 255 P.3d 696 (2011) (KAPO), to determine that, in a facial challenge, demonstration of a reasoned, objective evaluation of the science was the analysis required to satisfy the nexus and proportionality tests. Opinion at 27-28.

The Court of Appeals correctly relied on *HEAL* and *KAPO* in holding that the Bainbridge Island SMP's shoreline buffers

met the nexus and proportionality test. In *HEAL*, Division I of the Court of Appeals held that where a local government fails to incorporate that science, or otherwise ignores it, permit decisions could result in unconstitutional conditions. 96 Wn. App. at 533–34. In *KAPO*, Division II held that where a local government "consider[s] the best available science and employ[s] a reasoned process in adopting its shoreline critical areas ordinance, including the buffers for urban, semirural, and rural shorelines," it "[does] not engage in an unconstitutional taking and satisfie[s] the nexus and rough proportionality tests" 160 Wn. App. at 273–74.

The City did not ignore, nor did it fail to incorporate, the science when developing the SMP. The City's buffer provisions accordingly do not "serve as the basis for conditions and denials that are constitutionally prohibited." *HEAL*, 96 Wn. App. at 533. The Court of Appeals held that the City relied on valid scientific information because it implemented buffers based on the science and within the range of protective widths found in the literature.

Opinion at 29. At the level of a facial review of an ordinance, and absent the specificity of a particular type of development on a particular parcel, the City's buffer provisions are individualized by taking into account the environmental use designation, the morphology of the property, and the extent of the existing vegetative cover. AR 96. The environmental use designation, in turn, has already incorporated the consideration of the ecological characteristics and the stage of development of that particular stretch of shoreline. Additionally, the landowner has the ability to further customize vegetation requirements through an individual Vegetation Management Plan if a more tailored solution is needed. Thus the City's reasoned approach in developing the buffer provisions meets the test for nexus and proportionality.

V. CONCLUSION

For all of the reasons set forth above, the Court of Appeals correctly decided this matter and PRSM's petition for review should be denied.

This document contains 4708 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17(b).